

2020-2021 Student-ParentHandbook

29 Conwell Drive, Maple Glen, PA 19002 215-646-0150 www.olmrcs.com

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| | Page |
|--|------|
| Introduction | |
| Mission Statement | 5 |
| School Pledge | 5 |
| Belief Statements | 6 |
| Memorandum of Understanding | 7 |
| School Administration | 8 |
| Part I: Academics | |
| 1. Academic Responsibilities | 9 |
| 2. Accreditation | 9 |
| 3. Class Participation | 9 |
| 4. Class Requests | 9 |
| 5. Curriculum Modification | 10 |
| 6. Failure Notice | 10 |
| 7. Graduation | 10 |
| 8. Homework | 10 |
| 9. Honor Roll | 12 |
| 10. Mathematics | 12 |
| 11. Morning Assembly | 13 |
| 12. Preparation for Class | |
| 13. Promotion and/or Retention | 13 |
| 14. Remedial Services | |
| 15. Standardized Testing | |
| 16. Student Books and Materials | |
| 17. Student Progress, Reports, and Conferences | |
| 18. Summer School | |

| 19. Technology | 16 |
|--|-------|
| Part II: Activities | |
| 1. CARES | 17 |
| 2. Assemblies | 17 |
| 3. Field Trips | 17 |
| 4. Student Council | 17 |
| 5. Transportation | 18 |
| 6. Visitors | 19 |
| 7. Volunteers | 19 |
| Part III: Code of Conduct | |
| 1. Arrival & Dismissal Times | 20 |
| 2. Attendance | 20 |
| 3. Computer Acceptable Use Policy | 21 |
| 4. Discipline A. Disciplinary Procedures B. Bullying, Harassment, Intimidation, and Hazing | 22-30 |
| 5. Dress Code/Uniform | 30-33 |
| 6. Early Dismissal | 33 |
| 7. False Alarms | 33 |
| 8. Home & School Association | 33 |
| Part IV: School Policies & Procedures | |
| 1. Accident/Illness at School | 34 |
| 2. Address Changes, etc. | 34 |
| 3. Admission | 34 |
| 4. Asbestos | 35 |
| 5. Cold Weather | 35 |
| 6. Communicable Diseases | 35 |
| 7. Communications | 35 |
| 8. Emergency Contact Forms | 36 |

| 9. Fire and Emergency Crisis Drills | 36 |
|---|-------|
| 10. Legal/Custody Issues | 36 |
| 11. Lost & Found | 37 |
| 12. Medical Records & Immunizations | 37 |
| 13. Medication | 37 |
| 14. Nursing Services | 37 |
| 15. Option C | 38 |
| 16. Peanut/Nut Allergies | 38 |
| 17. Registration | 39 |
| 18. Release of a Child | 39 |
| 19. Safety Regulations | 39 |
| 20. Smoking | 39 |
| 21. Spitting/Biting | 39 |
| 22. Tuition Policies | 40-41 |
| 23. Transfers | 42 |
| APPENDIX I: MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING & HANDBOOK ACKNOWLEDGE FORM | 43 |
| APPENDIX II: IPAD AGREEMENT | 44-46 |
| • APPENDIX III: MY SIDE OF THE STORY FORM | 47-48 |
| • APPENDIX IV: Student Release, Waiver of Liability, and Indemnity | 49-50 |

MissionStatement

Through the intercession of Our Lady of Mercy, we commit ourselves to living the Good News of Jesus through Works of Mercy. Our rigorous academic program unleashes creative energy for the pursuit of knowledge and nurtures a hope-filled vision for Catholic leadership. We live out our relationship with God by respecting the dignity of others and providing service to the global community that fosters unity, understanding, and compassion.

ė

School Pledge

Today I promise to keep Jesus: In my mind On my lips And in my heart.

I promise to always do my best and to treat everyone with respect and kindness.

I promise to take good care of everything God has given me and to have the courage to always do what Jesus wants me to do.

I promise to live what Our Lady of Mercy School teaches.

ė

BeliefStatements

We believe that parents are the first and primary educators of their children. Faculty, staff, and administration partner with parents to provide an authentic Catholic environment where each student is given the opportunity to reach his or her full potential by discovering and developing their God-given gifts. Our Lady of Mercy seeks to form the whole child, providing strong foundations of prayer, knowledge, and service to equip each child for Christian life in the 21st century.

We believe that the ultimate goal of a Catholic school is to help each of its students get to Heaven. In a nurturing community of faith, students at Our Lady of Mercy cultivate Christian virtues and are inspired to become the men and women God calls them to be. The Catholic faith is the fabric of our school and is integrated into all aspects of student life. Through prayer, liturgy, the Sacraments, and Church teachings, students encounter Christ and develop a personal relationship with Him.

We believe that a solid intellectual foundation enables children to reach their potential and prepare for a lifetime of learning. Our Lady of Mercy challenges each child to strive for academic excellence beyond basic skills. Using differentiated instruction and educational technology, teachers engage each unique learner in the acquisition of knowledge and the cultivation of natural curiosity. As students become active participants in their learning, they develop skills of research and discovery and are equipped to successfully meet the challenges of further education.

We believe that faith is manifested in a life of service. At Our Lady of Mercy, students become aware of their place as citizens of the world, learning that their unique gifts are meant to be shared to build the Kingdom of God. Through service projects, extracurricular activities, athletics, and leadership opportunities, students learn to imitate Christ by serving others and contributing to the good of the community.

Memorandum of Understanding

Every Catholic school student has a right to be treated as a child of God, with the love and respect that implies, regardless of family circumstances. In like manner, the believing community has the right to and education guided by Catholic teaching and identity, unimpeded by pressures contrary to Church teaching.

As parent/guardian of a student in a Catholic school, I understand, affirm, and support the following:

- 1. The primary purpose of a Catholic school education is two-fold: to strengthen the Catholic community in its faith and to form students in the teachings of Jesus Christ and the Catholic Church.
- 2. Catholic schools are distinctive religious education institutions guided by the teachings of the Catholic Church. They are not simply private schools offering a positive moral code. Rather, they exist to advance the faith mission of the sponsoring Catholic parish(es), Archdiocese, or Catholic religious community.
- 3. While Catholic education places a high value on academic excellence and extracurricular achievement, its fundamental priority is fidelity to Catholic teaching and identity.
- 4. Attending a Catholic school is a privilege, not a right. The school and its administration have the responsibility to ensure that Catholic teaching and moral integrity permeate every facet of the school's life and activity and that the school is able to function as a community of faith.
- 5. In all questions that involve Catholic teaching, morals, and Church law, the final determination rests with the Archbishop.

As a parent/guardian desiring to enroll my child in a Catholic school, I accept this memorandum of understanding. I pledge support for the Catholic identity and mission of this school, and by enrolling my child, I commit myself to uphold all principles and policies that govern the Catholic School.

This handbook contains certain policies and procedures of the school. Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School reserves the right at any time to amend or add to the policies, rules, and regulations contained in this handbook and to make changes applicable to current and new students when the situation dictates. If you have a question about a particular policy or procedure, please contact the administration. Students and parents are obligated to abide by the policies and procedures set forth by the school in order for the student to attend Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School.

| Name | Position | Phone | Email |
|----------------------------|---------------------------|-----------------|------------------------------------|
| Mr. John C. McGrath, M.Ed. | Principal | 215-646-0150 X5 | j <u>mcgrath@olmrcs.com</u> |
| Mrs. Caroline Maher | Vice Principal | 215-646-0150 X2 | 205 <u>cmaher@olmrcs.com</u> |
| Mrs. Alison Dudenbostel | LEAD Teacher | 215-646-0150 X5 | 514 <u>adudenbostel@olmrcs.com</u> |
| Mrs. Julie Bebey | Director of Advancement | 215-646-0150 X1 | 13 jbebey@olmrcs.com |
| Mrs. Renee Makoid | Executive Assistant to | 215-646-0150 X2 | 239 <u>rmakoid@olmrcs.com</u> |
| | Principal | | _ |
| Mrs. Mo Gerngross | Annual Giving Coordinator | 215-646-0150 X1 | .14 <u>mgerngross@olmrcs.com</u> |
| Mrs. Maria Pasceri | Business Manager | 215-646-0150 X5 | |
| Mrs. Kathy Tenzinger | Technology Coordinator | 215-646-0150 X2 | 230 <u>ktenzinger@olmrcs.com</u> |
| | | | |
| Mrs. Megan Citro | School Reception/T | ransportation | 215-646-0150 |
| | | | |

School Administration, 2020-2021

The school office is open on school days from 7:30AM to 3:30PM. The office is open until 12:30PM on early dismissal days.

215-646-0150

School Reception

Mrs. Victoria Racz

Part I: Academics

1. Academic Responsibilities

Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School encourages all students to reach their fullest potential through the academic program.

Each student is responsible for the timely and satisfactory completion of projects, classwork, and homework. Grades on tests and projects should be commensurate with the student's ability.

A student who does not fulfill his/her academic responsibilities will be placed on academic probation, during which time, the evaluation of the student's progress is monitored.

Conditions and Consequences of Academic Probation

- The parent(s)/guardian(s) and student will confer with the administration and the classroom teacher. The teacher will outline the student's program for improvement.
- The teacher will inform the parent(s)/guardian(s) of the student's progress. The process will follow the stated format:
 - A) parent contact
 - B) grades posted on online school information management system
 - C) periodic meetings with the student
 - D) report cards

If a student is successful in meeting his/her academic responsibilities, the student will be removed from academic probation, and the parent/guardian will be notified in writing.

If the student is unsuccessful in meeting his/her academic responsibilities, the administration will review the student's continued enrollment in the school.

2. Accreditation

Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School has been accredited through the Middle States Association of Colleges and Schools, a recognized accrediting agency by the State of Pennsylvania. It maintains membership in the National Catholic Educational Association.

3. Class Participation

Students are expected to:

- > Give attention and respect to the teacher at all times
- Show respect and concern for other students by a willingness to share and take turns
- Actively participate in class by responding orally or in writing as circumstances dictate.

4. Class Requests

Requests for a specific teacher will not be acknowledged or honored. Every effort is made to see that your child is placed in the most appropriate class. Assigning a student to a certain class/teacher is a matter not taken lightly. Teachers collaborate in each grade to determine the most beneficial placements for all students, with regard to each child's promotion. Teachers' professional observations help guide their assessment of where each child will best thrive. The

observation and collaboration processes take considerate time and are carefully evaluated.

Parent requests will not be the determining factor for classroom placement of children. Should you have special circumstances or consideration that we are not aware of, please pass these specific and articulable concerns, in writing, to the principal.

5. Curriculum Modification

The Office of Catholic Education established guidelines for modifying and adapting curriculum to meet the learning needs of all students. Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School is c o m m i t t e d to providing for the needs of individual students. Classroom Modifications are designed to provide adaptations to the curriculum so that high expectations are maintained for all students. The need for curriculum modifications is determined by educational/psychological testing administered by an agent of the Intermediate Unit or a privately engaged school psychologist. Parents then join with the teachers and/or administration to develop strategies which will best help students achieve specific goals. Any student who receives modifications will have this noted on their report card. All goals and modifications are reviewed and agreed upon by the parent, teacher, and administration. A signed copy of the modification plan is kept in the student's file and is individualized for each year of instruction warranting modifications.

6. Failure Notices

If a student is in danger of failing any subject, the teacher shall, not less than 15 instructional days before the end of that grading period, issue the Notice of Impending Failure.

7. Graduation

Eighth grade students who have completed the prescribed course of study and maintained a suitable discipline record are eligible for graduation if all financial obligations have been met. The Administration and the eighth-grade teachers determine the procedures for graduation. Participation in closing is a privilege, not a right. The school has the right to deny any student from participating in the closing exercises if, in the view of the school, the student's conduct or academic or disciplinary records indicate that the privilege should not be extended.

8. Homework

DEFINITION: Homework will be used to increase the students' opportunities to learn and to apply information previously learned. It is completed outside the classroom and is intended to provide added opportunity to practice skills, engage information, and explore topics using varied learning styles and interests. Homework assignments should be purposeful, intentional, and include not only written assignments but also opportunities to take part in cultural and creative activities and real-world application of learning.

Examples: documented nightly reading, flash sheets/cards (content area review), projects

STUDENT RESPONSIBILITIES: Students are responsible for completing and turning in their homework and, with the support of their parents, will:

- A. Record assignments and due dates, if appropriate for grade level, ask questions, and select necessary books, supplies, and any other relevant material before leaving school.
- B. Keep homework in the same place at home each day and take books and materials to the study area.
- C. Plan the best time to complete work.
- D. Complete work so that it is neat and legible.

PARENTAL SUPPORT: Parents/Guardians will be urged to actively involve themselves in their children's schoolwork by doing the following:

- A. Showing interest with questions about and comments on the schoolwork children bring home.
- B. Provide a suitable place to study that is free from disturbances and by supplying needed materials for completing homework.
- C. Prompting and offering to clarify instructions and answer questions, but not completing the work.
- D. Assisting their child with time management.
- E. Check to ensure that the work is complete.
- F. Encouraging children to do their best work and praising a job well done.
- G. Staying in close communication with teachers. This may include: reviewing and signing daily agendas, assessments, reading logs, etc.

CONSEQUENCES: It is left to the discretion of each classroom teacher for carrying out consequences for not having homework assignments. The consequences must work in agreement with the OLM Student-Parent Handbook.

HOMEWORK TIME GUIDELINES

- A. Grades K-2: Homework at the lower elementary level should be minimal and experiential, and most often take the form of reading, playing games, or doing activities that involve the family.
- B. Grades 3-5: Homework during these grade levels will reflect the more complex nature of the content as students are expected to know and understand as well as the increasing expectation that students be more independent. Research has not shown a strong relationship between the amount of homework an elementary school student completes and achievement levels.
- C. Grade 6-8: Homework in the OLM Middle School can have an impact on student achievement. Assignments should be carefully planned among core teachers so that students are not given excessive amounts of homework. This recommendation is based on research that shows homework can have a positive relationship with student learning for middle school students.

MAKE-UP WORK: In the event of absence or suspension, all homework and missed assignments are to be made up. If a student is absent, parents may call the Main Office to request homework for students in Grades 1-5. Student's work may be picked up between 3PM and 4PM. <u>MIDDLE SCHOOL</u>: requests for homework will only be granted for absences of three or more days. Except for extended absences, all missed work, including tests, assessments, and quizzes, will be made up within a period not longer than twice the length of the absence unless other arrangements are made with the teacher.

- A. <u>Homework Illness Policy:</u> For short absences, students should make arrangements with classmates, check assignments online, or obtain them when they return to school.
- B. <u>Homework Vacation Policy</u>: Parents are strongly discouraged from planning vacations during the academic year. While family time is certainly valuable time, interruption in the educational process can present difficulties for some children. However, when absences for vacation are unavoidable, the following policy will apply: Homework and/or class

assignments will not be given prior to the start of the vacation. No work will be given so that it may be done during the time of the vacation.

| Grade Level | Average Homework Time Per Night for all Subjects Combined (This includes independent reading time.) |
|-----------------------|---|
| Kinder | Up to 10 minutes |
| 1 st Grade | Up to 10 minutes |
| 2 nd Grade | Up to 20 minutes |
| 3 rd Grade | Up to 30 minutes |
| 4 th Grade | Up to 40 minutes |
| 5 th Grade | Up to 50 minutes |
| 6 th Grade | Up to 60 minutes |
| 7 th Grade | Up to 70 minutes |
| 8 th Grade | Up to 80 minutes |

9. Honor Roll

Students in Grades 4-8 may earn honors each trimester. The following is the criteria:

First Honors

- > 95 or above in every subject area
- > 3 or 4 in Personal and Social Growth, Effort and Study Skills, Special Subjects

Second Honors

- > 90 or above in every subject area
- > 3 or 4 in Personal and Social Growth, Effort and Study Skills, Special Subjects

Policy for Weighting Courses – Honors Math Program (Grades 5-8)

Elementary and Middle School students who participate in the Honors Math Program (or math enrichment – grade 4) receive a weighted grade to determine the overall GPA accurately. The individual course grade for the math course will be given the weight of 0.5 bonus points (based on a 4.0 scale) to reflect the challenging curriculum. Therefore 0.5 equals 5 points on our 100 scale. Therefore, Math honors are based on First Honors - 90 and above. Second Honors 85 and above.

10. Mathematics – Grades 1-8

The Elementary Mathematics Curriculum is a carefully planned program that focuses on the understanding of basic concepts and mastery of skills, and applying these skills through

extensive instruction and practice mathematically, making real-life and content-area connections, and developing reasoning skills.

The Elementary Honors Mathematics Program is intended to meet the needs of those students who are capable of completing the prescribed curriculum in seven (7), instead of eight (8) years. The students in this program are identified in grade four (4) and begin formal instruction in grade five (5), continuing through grade eight (8). The Algebra I course used by the secondary schools in the Archdiocese of Philadelphia is the eighth (8th) grade honors curriculum.

The school administrator and the mathematics coordinator carefully monitor the program with the use of management guidelines prepared by the Joint Elementary/Secondary Mathematics Committee.

Students who complete this program and satisfactorily master the Algebra I curriculum according to criteria established by the Joint Committee can test to begin their second- year of secondary mathematics in the freshman year.

The principle criteria for admission to this program, as stated in the Archdiocesan guidelines for the Elementary Honors Program, include:

- a. Cognitive Skills Quotient in the 125 range
- b. Standardized test scores: 90 in Mathematics and 80 in Reading
- c. Consistent scores of 85 or better on Archdiocesan Level Evaluations
- d. 90 overall Mathematics average for the year
- e. Periodic evaluation will be used to determine continued participation in this program.

Participation in the Honors Math Program is contingent upon the approval of the Archdiocesan Mathematics Committee.

11. Morning Assembly

Children go directly to the gym upon arrival. Two teachers are assigned to oversee their safety until the assembly begins at 8:00 AM. Assembly includes spiritual reflection, prayer, announcements, pledge of allegiance to the flag, a patriotic song, and birthday blessing. Every student, faculty, and staff member are invited to be acknowledged on his/her birthday. (When a birthday falls on a Saturday, the blessing will be the Friday before and if a birthday falls on a Sunday, the blessing will be on Monday). Birthdays after the last day of school in June and those in July and August will be celebrated on the date during May or June. The scheduled "Blessings" are posted in the Peek & Ponder of the Week. Parents are welcome to attend Morning Assembly for the Birthday Blessing but should allow extra time to check in with the School Office before 8:00 AM.

12. Preparation for Class

Students are responsible for completing all class assignments and homework on time. Failure to do so indicates a lack of preparation for class. Incomplete homework assignments will result in a calendar mark and will ultimately affect the student's effort grade on the report card.

The teacher assesses daily performance of students. Examination of copybooks, workbooks, and worksheets for neatness and completeness of work, as well as class participation are part of the overall report card grade.

All students must be encouraged to use copybooks properly. Students should not tear pages from copybooks, skip pages, or use his/her copybook as a drawing or scribbling pad.

13. Promotion and/or Retention

Student progress is monitored throughout the school year. At the close of the First Trimester report card period, the parent/guardian is informed of the student's academic, social, and

emotional progress. The teacher will contact the parent/guardian of a student who continues to experience difficulty in discussing the possibility of retention and support services. By the end of May, the teacher will schedule a follow-up meeting with the parent/guardian. If retention is indicated, the parent/guardian will receive an official notification that must be signed and returned to the school administration. Promotion or retention is at the discretion of the administration in consultation with the teacher(s).

14. Remedial Services

MONTGOMERY COUNTY INTERMEDIATE UNIT ACT 89 / TITLE I

These programs provide remedial, corrective, or developmental reading skill reinforcement for the students of Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School. Students are considered for these programs based on their performance in the Terra Nova Test, assessments given by the MCIU, and classroom teacher recommendation, and/or parental request. These services are coordinated with the classroom teacher to maximize reading, thinking, and learning potential.

> Speech and Language Services

Speech and language services are provided by Act 89 through the Montgomery County Intermediate Unit.

Children are selected to receive services when standards of sound production, fluency, language use, form, or content fall below normal standards for the child's age and ability. Referrals for evaluations are initiated by staff, parents/guardians, or the children themselves. Evaluation and therapy are only provided following the consent of the parent/guardian.

> <u>Reading and Math Services</u>

Remedial services are provided by Act 89 for students on those days authorized through the Montgomery County Intermediate Unit. Students are considered for this program based upon classroom teacher recommendation, performance in the Terra Nova test, and informal diagnostic tests administered by the I.U. teacher. These services are coordinated with the classroom teacher to provide the maximum benefit for the student. Service is only provided following the consent of the parent /guardian.

> <u>Counseling and Psychological Services</u>

The Commonwealth of Pennsylvania provides counseling and psychological services through the Montgomery County Intermediate Unit.

The school counselor provides quality service to Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School community by consulting with the school administration, faculty, and parents/guardians regarding individual students. Both individual and group counseling are available to the students. The counselor recommends suitable referrals when needed.

After appropriate consultation, individual students are eligible for educational and psychological testing. The school psychologist consults with the school administration, faculty, and parents/ guardians in order to prepare for the testing procedure. Following the testing, the school psychologist meets with the student's parents/guardians to review the complete report. After parental permission is secured, the school psychologist shares recommendations with the school administration and the faculty in order to provide the student with the assistance needed.

15. Standardized Testing

The Terra Nova Test is administered in the spring each year to students in Grade 3-7. The results are communicated to the parents and are utilized by the school for curriculum planning. Parents are asked not to take vacation or schedule doctor appointments during days of this testing. Dates are given to parents ten (10) months in advance.

16. Student Books and Materials

Every student must carry books to and from school in a suitable book bag. Books, copybooks, and materials are to be properly identified by name and room number. The student and parents/guardians must pay for all lost or damaged schoolbooks in full. A charge will be made at the rate at which the books were purchased.

Students are expected to take care of personal belongings, books, and clothing. They are also asked to help care for the school buildings and the adjoining property. Any malicious damage will necessitate compensation.

The school reserves the right to examine students' personal property and/or materials on campus when necessitated.

17. Student Progress, Report Cards, and Conferences

Progress reports are available on-line, six weeks into each trimester for grades 1 to 8. The progress reports can be accessed through the school's online information management sytem. The school provides you with a User ID and Password.

Report Cards are issued three times a year, in grades K through 8. Each student is responsible for his/her grade, based on satisfactorily fulfilling the following requirements:

- ≻ Test
- > Quizzes
- > Oral Reports
- Independent Classroom Work
- > Participation in classroom lessons and/or activities
- Group Work/Projects

OLM's assessment policy is based upon educational "best practices" as researched by the Association of Supervision and Curriculum Development.

In grades 1 through 8, parents are asked to sign the report card envelope and return the envelope to school. In kindergarten, the report card and envelope need to be signed and returned to school.

Conferences take place during the first trimester in all grades. If necessary, a teacher or parent may request additional conferences.

18. Summer School

Students (Grades 3 - 7) with a failing general average for any major subject must attend summer school. The following options are allowed:

1. Attendance at summer classes offered through your school district or through local universities. A written report at its conclusion must be provided.

2. Twenty hours of private tutoring by a certified teacher who will supply the school with a

checklist of skills taught and a narrative progress report.

19. Technology

Students have the use of many types of technology throughout the school year. Every parent signs a release form explaining the use of the computer. Each child is expected to use the technology in a respectful and responsible manner.

It is the intent of our school to provide the students with the most up-to-date technology for maximum learning. Any child found tampering with another child's work will be held accountable to the Principal immediately. Any type of vandalism to the many media forms will also result in the student being sent to the Principal for disciplinary action.

The use of cell phones, Ipods, or electronic devices during the school day is strictly prohibited. If electronics are found in use, they will be taken immediately by the teacher/staff and may be reclaimed by the parent in person. Cell phones may be in school bags or lockers (Middle School), but must be turned off during the school day.

Part II: Activities

1. Children Are Receiving Extended Services (CARES) Program

Before/After school care is available for students in grades K through 8. The program runs from 6:30AM-8AM & dismissal until 6:30PM. An application and information on registration/fees are available on the school website or a hard copy is available at the school office.

2. Assemblies

The primary purpose of school assemblies is educational. Being part of an appreciative audience is a learning experience; therefore, every student is expected to show proper respect and courtesy at this time.

3. Field Trips

The purpose of every field trip is to broaden the intellectual, cultural, and social experiences of each child. In order to attend the field trip, a written permission slip must be signed by a parent/guardian prior to the scheduled trip. If a parent/guardian does not want their child to attend the field trip, the school must be notified in writing. It is important to remember that a field trip is a privilege, which the teacher and/or Principal may take away if deemed appropriate.

4. Student Council

Seventh-grade students may run for Student Council at the end of the year. All students are permitted to run for election based on the following criteria:

- President/Vice President must maintain a 90 or above general average; have and maintain a cumulative average of a 3 or above in conduct and effort and all "Specials" classes; been in the school at least two years; maintain an attitude and appearance that sets a good example for the student body.
- Treasurer: must maintain an 85 or above general average, with a 90 or above in mathematics; have and maintain a cumulative average of a 3 or above in conduct and effort and all "Specials" classes; maintain an attitude and appearance that sets a good example for the student body.
- Commissioner of Religious Activities and Spirit: must maintain an 85 or above general average, with a 90 or above in religion; have and maintain a cumulative average of a 3 or above in conduct and effort and all "Specials" classes; active member of the parish; maintains an attitude and appearance that sets a good example for the student body.
- School Historian: must maintain an 85 or above general average; have and maintain a cumulative average of a 3 or above in conduct and effort and all "Specials" classes; maintain an attitude and appearance that sets a good example for the student body.
- Secretary: must maintain an 85 or above general average, with a 90 or above in ELA; have and maintain a cumulative average of a 3 or above in conduct and effort and all "Specials" classes; maintain an attitude and appearance that sets a good example for the student body.

Note: Once elected, the criteria and grade requirements listed above must be maintained throughout the officers' 8th grade year. If an officer receives a 2 in conduct and/or effort, this may result in a period of suspension from the student council office.

All Student Council officers are role models to the school. They are held up to a very high standard in order to be POSITIVE role models for the entire school. This includes following all school rules in academics, conduct and effort, and dress code. They must be very responsible since there will be times when you will miss a class to fulfill their duties. It will be their responsibility to make up all missed work on their own. Although it is fun, it also requires sacrifice and initiative.

5. Transportation

In the beginning of the school year, parents/guardians are asked how their child/children will arrive at and leave school. Any change in transportation arrangements must be made in writing, even if it is a change for only one day. Transportation changes will **not** be made over the phone.

> Bus

The local public school districts provide bus transportation for students. Children who ride the bus are expected to behave in a safe and orderly manner at all times. Failure to do so will result in their being denied the privilege of riding the bus. Children must ride the same bus both morning and afternoon as assigned to them by the school district. Please do not request permission, written or verbal, from the Principal for a student who is a non-rider to take the bus to any location on a given day. The school is not in a position to grant such a request. If you wish to pursue such a change, you may call the transportation office of the local public school district.

While on the bus:

- Be courteous to fellow students and the bus driver. •
- Keep hands, head, and feet inside the bus at all times. •
- Assist in keep the bus safe and clean at all times.
- Never tamper with the bus or its equipment. •
- Keep books, coats, packages, and all articles out of the aisles. •
- Help look after the safety and comfort of smaller children.
- Do not throw anything out of the bus windows.
- Stay seated until you are supposed to get off the bus. •
- Horseplay or fighting will result in disciplinary action. •
- Don't distract the driver when the bus is in motion. However, in an emergency, alert the bus driver immediately.
- Taking of pictures/videos with cell phones or iPads of other students is prohibited. There is no eating on the bus.
- Car Line Procedures
 - **Drop-off Guidelines**
 - The speed limit is 10 MPH while driving on any part of the school property.
 - Use of a car phone while driving in the parking lot is NOT permitted.
 - All traffic must enter from Temple Drive and proceed across the back of the yard past the Narthex and Holy Family Statue to the school side of the parking lot where students are to exit the vehicles. Please move all the way up in the drop off area so that several cars can unload at

the same time. Children may never be dropped or picked up on Temple Drive, the soccer field or church side of the lot.

- When pulling up behind another car, please be aware of children retrieving school bags from the trunk of the car in front of you.
- ➢ <u>Pick-up Guidelines</u>
 - All traffic must enter from Temple Drive and proceed across the back of the vard past the Narthex and Holy Family Statue to the school side of the parking lot where the cars should form a line against the curb beginning at the entrance of the school office. This is designated as lane 1; once this lane is filled, cars continue to form lanes until all 6 are filled. Any additional cars arriving after all 6 lanes are filled should only enter lane 6 (lane closest to the basketball court). Children should only enter the vehicle from the curbside.

 - All traffic must exit via Conwell Drive.
 - If all of the children you are picking up are not ready at the same time, then please pull into a parking spot until all children are accounted for.
 - Do not encourage children to walk between cars through the parking lot.
 - Please do not pass other vehicles in the car line.

6. Visitors

Visitors are welcomed by appointment. To arrange a meeting, visitors should contact the School Office. Parents coming to school to bring forgotten articles or to relay messages should come to the School Office. Classes may not be disturbed for these reasons. Parents may not confer with a teacher or visit a classroom between the hours of 7:30AM and 3:15PM, unless the Principal gives permission for such a visit. All visitors must report to the School Office and sign the Visitors' Log when entering the building. An atmosphere of quiet respect for the learning rights of others should prevail throughout the school building.

7. Volunteers

The assistance of parent volunteers is greatly appreciated and encouraged. We recognize the invaluable assistance given by our students' families, which helps in building a strong learning community. Parents are urged to take an active role in their child's education by volunteering whenever and wherever possible. All students are expected to show courtesy and respect to all volunteers.

Anyone who works with children (including field trip chaperones) must attend a Safe Environment Program and obtain Criminal History and Child Abuse Clearances. To register for the Program, go to <u>www.virtus.org</u> and click on registration. The forms for clearances are available in the School Office, and generally take two to three weeks once completed.

Part III. Code of Conduct

1. Arrival and Dismissal Times

School begins promptly at 8:00 AM. Students may enter the building after 7:30AM and should be in the gym for morning assembly no later than 8:00am. Dismissal begins at 2:50PM and 11:50AM on early dismissal days. Students may NOT be picked up for early dismissal after 2:30PM. Please check the school website and calendar for days off and early dismissals.

We work in partnership with parents to enable each child to develop as an independent learner. Parents should allow their child(ren) to enter the school building on their own each morning. Various classes invite parent involvement or visits on particular occasions. Teachers are not available to conference with parents before school or during the school day while children are present in the classroom.

2. Attendance

Regular school attendance impacts positively on the child's academic development. The total amount of days that school is in session is prescribed by the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

a. <u>Absences</u> - The policies regarding this area are as follows:

i. A student who has been absent from school, even for one day, is required to present a written note to his homeroom teacher.

ii. A doctor's certificate may be required for absence of an extended nature (3+ days).

iii. If your child is going to be absent, or arrive late at school, you are required to call the school. Please leave a message on voice mail. The number to call to report an absence or lateness is listed at the front of the handbook. Please call by 7:30AM. If your child's name appears on an attendance report from the homeroom teacher and you have not phoned in to let us know, please expect a call from the school to verify the absence or check on your child's whereabouts. Please help us in this endeavor by calling. Your child's safety and welfare are of great importance to us.

iv. In the case of illness, a school official will contact the parents or adult whose name has been submitted to the office with an emergency phone number.

v. Any child who stays home without his/her parent's knowledge is liable for suspension. Any child who leaves school without permission will be suspended.

vi. Absences due to a funeral will be recorded except in the case of a parent, sibling or grandparent through the day of the funeral only.

vii. One absence due to a high school visit will be excused during the 8th grade year.

viii. <u>Attendance to Participate in Extracurricular Activities:</u> A student must be in attendance at school by 10AM on the day of the event to participate that day or evening. The 10AM deadline also applies to any delays in the starting time. A student who leaves school early due to illness may not participate in any afterschool activities that day. If a student is absent from school all day, he/she may not attend any after-school activities that day.

ix.

b. Appointments

Student appointments should not be made during school hours.

c. <u>Lateness</u>

Student who are late must report directly to the office. Any student who arrives late to school more than 10 times the parent/guardian will be required to meet with the administration to discuss the habitual lateness and the repercussions it has on the learning environment. Following the meeting, if the tardiness continues, the student may be subject to suspension or dismissal. Consistent unexcused lateness will be considered parental neglect, which will be reported to the appropriate agency for further investigation. Lateness, of course, impacts a perfect attendance record and constitutes a serious infraction.

d. Perfect Attendance

Students who incur no absences, either full or half-day, and have not been late, are eligible for a Perfect Attendance Certificate on the last day of school for the year.

3. Computer Acceptable Use Policy

An Acceptable Use Policy must be signed by the parent/guardian and returned to school.

a. <u>Purpose and Goals</u>

Computers are a valuable tool for education. Students, and all users of computer technology, have a responsibility to use these tools properly and in accordance with the school policy.

b.<u>Responsibilities of User</u>

With the right of access comes the responsibility to use the source both correctly and wisely. Access to the Internet may mean that some material found will not meet guidelines set in our Acceptable Use Policy. Monitoring and controlling all such materials is impossible. The school will make every effort to discourage the appearance of such material; however, the opportunities and information made available by the Internet make it necessary to provide access in order that our students can take advantage of the many resources on the information superhighway.

c. General Requirements for Use of the Internet

- All users are required to take simple Internet training from the computer coordinator.
- All users and their parent(s)/guardian(s) must sign a student access contract governing use of computer resources, which is provided by the school and set forth below.
- Transferring copyrighted material to or from the school without express permission of the owner may be a violation of federal law. The user must ensure that this does not occur.
- Use of electronic mail and other Internet facilities to harass, offend, or annoy other users is forbidden. Any breach in this area will result in suspension with possible intent to dismiss.
- E-mail accounts through the school may be restricted and will be monitored.
- Any attempt to circumvent system security, guess passwords, or in any way gain

access to secured resources is forbidden.

- The use of the Internet for commercial gain or profit is not allowed.
- Users will not move, repair, reconfigure, modify or attach external devices, or load software on the system without the express, prior written consent of the school.
- The system operator has the right to monitor all computer activity without prior notice to the user.
- The school may impose additional rules and restrictions at any time.

d. <u>Discipline</u>

Violators will be subject to suspension of computer privileges.

e. <u>Student Rules</u>

- For reasons of personal safety, students must never post or transmit personal information about themselves or other people. This includes name, address, telephone/fax number, school address, social security number, etc.
- Students must not access material that is profane or obscene (e.g., pornography) or that advocates illegal acts, violence, harassment or discrimination toward other people.
- Students must not plagiarize works they find on the Internet. Plagiarism is taking the ideas or writings of another and presenting them as if they were one's own.
- Students must not use obscene, profane, lewd, vulgar, rude or threatening language. Nor will they, through means of the Internet, harass or annoy other users via writing or photographs.
- Students must not knowingly or recklessly post or transmit information about persons or organizations that is false or private.
- Students must not make deliberate attempts to disrupt computer systems or destroy data by spreading computer viruses or by other means. These actions are illegal.
- The illegal downloading of copyrighted software or other written works for use on home or school computers is prohibited.

Engagement in cellular phone texting and on-line blogs such as, but not limited to, Facebook, Twitter, Snapchat, Instagram, etc. may result in disciplinary action if the content of the student's messaging includes defamatory comments regarding the school, the faculty, other students or the parish(es).

Violations of any of these rules may result in either or both of the following:

- Loss of Internet access privileges
- Disciplinary and/or legal action by the school, law enforcement or other involved parties.

4. Discipline

We believe that discipline is fundamental to life. Discipline is a necessary reflection of the philosophy of a Catholic School, which attempts to develop a fully-committed Christian – a Christian committed to the observance of just rules and regulations, which will assist the individual in responding to his/her responsibilities and obligations to his/herself and others.

Correct training in discipline means that a child learns to accept rules and regulations presented by lawful authority. Students are expected to act in such fashion that their behavior will reflect favorably on themselves and the school. They are expected to show consideration and respect for their fellow students and teachers; thus, creating a harmonious atmosphere within the school.

All students must recognize their responsibilities and obligations and discharge them in accordance with school regulations. Children who fail to comply with school policies and regulations must accept the consequences.

The discipline code applies to students and parents/guardians in school, and at schoolsponsored events, **as well as on school buses (coming/going)**, *in the school/parish community and outside the school/parish community where the behavior is contrary to Catholic teachings or could bring disrepute or embarrassment to the school.*

As a general rule, the classroom teacher manages the discipline issues in the class and enlists the help of the principal in cases involving serious or repeated misbehavior (Archdiocesan Policies & Procedures #S 319, 2009).

A) Disciplinary Procedures

- Kindergarten to Grade 3: Teachers in these grades use a variety of behavioral and motivational strategies to maintain positive and effective classroom management. Discipline is usually handled by the classroom teacher.
- Grade 4 to Grade 8: A calendar mark is issued for actions so warranting. Accumulated calendar marks result in an after-school detention held once a month from 3PM-4PM.

Three detentions result in a child-study meeting to ascertain the student's difficulties. A student suspended a second time within a single school year is eligible for dismissal from the school.

✤ Procedure for Calendar Marks

When a student receives a mark on the calendar, the parent/guardian on the night issued must sign their child's calendar, **indicating knowledge of the mark.** The next school day, the student must then show the signed mark to the teacher who issued the mark. <u>A parent/guardian's signature indicates that the parent/guardian has seen the mark. It does not indicate the parent/guardian's permission for the student to receive the calendar mark. The teacher issuing the calendar mark and the Principal have already made that decision.</u>

✤ Calendar Marks

The following chart is only a guideline for the classroom teacher in the issuance of calendar marks. It is not an **all-inclusive list** of conduct that violates the Discipline Code. The teacher/Principal may adjust the marks accordingly. If a child receives **two** major marks or the accumulation of two major marks on the calendar during a **trimester**, a detention will be issued. **Five minor** marks on the calendar = **one major** mark.

If a child receives a detention during the trimester, they will receive a 2 on their report card in either Personal and Social Growth or Effort and Study Skills, depending upon what the calendar marks were issued for. A 2 on the report card results in ineligibility to receive first or second honors. In the case of seventh grade students, a 2 on the report card would constitute ineligibility to run for Student Council.

If behavior warrants, a student may receive a 2 on the report card regardless of whether or

not they received a detention.

The following infractions will warrant a major mark on the calendar:

- 1. Uncharitable behavior
- 2. Uncooperative
- 3. Disrespectful
- 4. Fighting
- 5. Disruptive in class
- 6. Cell phone

The following infractions will warrant a minor comment on the calendar:

- 1. Uniform not according to code (after first uniform violation form)
- 2. No homework/Incomplete homework
- 3. Unprepared for class (study)
- 4. Unprepared for class (materials)
- 5. Not listening/following directions
- 6. Gum

Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School Mercy Policy

In the letter to the Hebrews, we read, "At the time, all discipline seems a cause not for joy but pain, yet later it brings the peaceful fruit of righteousness to those who are trained by it (Hebrews 12:11)."

Positive and effective discipline will create a school where peace and respect are evident. In a peace-filled school, every child has the right or privilege to learn and every child has the responsibility to follow school and class rules. While a verbal warning will most often occur first, consequences must be expected when wrong choices are made.

The OLM Mercy Policy identifies essential expectations and privileges that should be maintained. Clearly delineated consequences will be implemented to support the Mercy Policy of our school.

1. I have the privilege to wear the uniform of Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School. This means I have the responsibility to abide by the Dress Code found in the Student-Parent Handbook.

Any student who does not follow the dress code will receive a calendar mark (after first violation form) and a "My Side of the Story" paper to fill out. Both forms must be returned the next day or another report will be issued. The parents may be called to bring the correct uniform to school.

2. I have the privilege to be educated at Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School between the hours of 8:00AM and 3:00PM. This means I have the responsibility to be on time, attend all

classes, and stay on school premises until being dismissed according to my parents' plans.

Any student who is late and/or leaves early three times, without a doctor's note, will receive a calendar mark and a "My Side of the Story" form to be filled out and returned the next day

3. A respectful quiet is expected to be observed in the hallways at all times. This respectful quiet is also to be observed in response to bells throughout the day.

Any student who fails to observe quiet will receive the applicable calendar mark and a "My Side of the Story" form to be filled out by the student which his/her parents will sign and return.

4. I have the privilege to be educated at Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School. I will complete and hand in my assignments when they are due.

 I understand that my teacher will provide a consequence for not handing in my assignments when they are due. This is up to each individual teacher

5. I have the privilege to use God's gift of food for its intended purpose. This means I eat what I have been given with respect and dignity. I have the responsibility not to waste or damage my food or the food of another and to refrain from the use of gum in any manner.

Any student who wastes, damages, or throws food, or uses gum will miss recess and may spend the next day's recess helping to sweep and clean up the cafeteria. The applicable calendar mark will be issued as well as a letter of explanation written by the student.

6. I have the privilege of being safe at OLM. This means that no one will direct threatening or inappropriate language toward me, or use such language in my presence. I have the responsibility to make others feel safe with my words and to refrain from using threatening or inappropriate language. I know that I may not use threatening or inappropriate language as a joke.

✤ To another student: Any student who directs threatening language, oral or written, toward another student or uses inappropriate language, oral or written, will receive the applicable

calendar mark, a detention, immediately call parents, and will write a letter of apology to the other student.

• To an adult: Any student who directs threatening language, oral or written, toward an adult or uses inappropriate language, oral or written, will have his/her parent called,

have an immediate conference with the principal and will immediately be suspended for two days. A behavior report will be written for documentation purposes.

Continued infractions: If this behavior continues, the student will be expelled from school.

7. I have the privilege to be heard at Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School. This means that no one will yell, scream or shout at me. I have the responsibility to speak to others with respect instead of yelling, screaming or shouting at them and to use appropriate language, both oral and written.

✤ To a student: Any student who yells, screams, shouts, or speaks unkindly to another student will write a letter of apology to that student, receive the applicable calendar mark and will fill out the "My Side of the Story" form, all to be returned the next day. Continued infractions: Any student who continually shouts or speaks unkindly will meet with the principal or guidance counselor. His/her parents may be required to meet with the principal. To a teacher/adult: Any student who yells, screams, shouts, or speaks unkindly to an adult will write a letter of apology to that adult, meet with the principal and be suspended immediately for two days. A behavior report will be written for documentation purposes.

✤ Continued infractions: Any student who continues to shout or speak inappropriately to an adult will be expelled.

8. I have the privilege to be myself at Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School. This means that no one will treat me unfairly because of my color, my weight, my height or my gender. I have the responsibility to treat others fairly and with respect.

Any student who treats another student unfairly will meet with the principal or guidance counselor to discuss the behavior and will write a letter of apology to the student they treated unfairly. The applicable calendar mark will be issued and will fill out the "My Side of the Story" form and returned the next day.

9. I have the privilege to a healthy body and mind. This means I will refrain from the use of tobacco, alcohol, drugs and immoral conduct. I have the responsibility to treat my body with respect and to understand that each person has the right to this same treatment.

Any student who uses tobacco, alcohol, or drugs, or exhibits immoral conduct will the applicable calendar mark, a "My Side of the Story" form, and an automatic out of school suspension with the possibility of expulsion.

10. . I have the privilege to be safe at Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School. This means that no one will hit me kick me, push me, pinch me or hurt me in any way, including horseplay which could lead to more serious conduct. This also means that no one will hurt me with mean words. I have the responsibility to make others feel safe with my words and to refrain from fighting and physical aggression.

- To another student: Any student who exhibits physical aggression toward another student will the applicable calendar mark, serve an automatic one-day detention and will write a letter of apology to the other student, all to be returned the next day.
- Continued infractions: If this behavior continues, the parents will be required to meet with the principal.
- To an adult: Any student who is physically aggressive toward an adult will have his/her parent called, have an immediate conference with the principal and will immediately be suspended for two days. A report will be written for documentation purposes.
- Continued infractions: If this behavior continues, the student will be expelled from school.

12. . Disrespect, either in word or action, toward self, others or the environment will NOT BE TOLERATED!

To another student: Any student who shows disrespect to another student will receive the applicable calendar mark and will write a letter to that student apologizing and promising he/she will not repeat this misbehavior. A "My Side of the Story" form will also be completed, all to be returned the next day.

- Continued infractions: Any student who continues exhibiting disrespectful behavior and receives three (3) calendar marks will receive a detention, leading to a possible suspension.
- To an adult: Any student who shows disrespect to an adult will receive the applicable calendar mark and will write a letter to that adult, apologizing and promising that he/she will not repeat this misbehavior. The letter will be written that evening and returned the next day.
- Continued infractions: Any student who continues exhibiting disrespectful behavior and receives three (3) calendar marks will receive a detention, leading to a possible suspension.

**Archdiocesan Behavior Policy also applies to off-campus behavior that somehow brings discredit or scandal to the school and/or causes substantial disruption to the learning environment (#319.3, 2009).

**Due to the age-appropriate and effective classroom management strategies and communication techniques employed in self-contained classrooms, many of these consequences will not be necessary in Grades K-3. Nevertheless, any student in any grade may receive a detention or a suspension if he/she does not follow the code of conduct outlined in this handbook.

Serious Infractions

Serious infractions may result in an immediate suspension or dismissal and apply when students are on school grounds, on a bus, or at school-sponsored functions.

Examples of Serious Infractions include the following:

- > Truancy unexcused absences
- > Violent behavior any fighting or behavior that causes physical injury
- > Blatant disrespect for authority to any adult in the building
- Possession and/or use of drugs, narcotics, tobacco, or alcoholic beverages on the campus or on the bus
- > Irreverence
- > Vandalism destruction or defacing of parish or school property
- > Profane/obscene language or gestures or engaging in immoral conduct
- > Possession of any item which may present a danger to others in school or out
- ➤ Cutting class
- > Leaving school grounds without permission from a school authority
- > Violent/Threatening/Harassing and Inappropriate Conduct

It is the intent of the school to provide an educational environment free from all forms of improper threats, intimidation, hostility, and offensive and inappropriate behavior. Such improper conduct may take the form of unwanted verbal or physical conduct, verbal or written derogatory or discriminatory statements, and behavior not otherwise conducive to the educational and religious mission of the school.

Unacceptable Conduct – either by a student <u>or a parent/guardian</u> - includes, but is not limited to, the following:

> Disrespectful behavior of any kind toward any or about any staff, parent, volunteer, or

student

- ➤ Insubordination
- > Fighting
- Bomb scares or triggering other false alarms
- > Use or possession of drugs or alcohol
- > Smoking
- ➤ Stealing
- > Intimidation, harassment, or threats of any kind
- Possession of any weapon
- Internet/text messaging, bullying

These categories do not cover every possible situation. <u>The school will determine which</u> <u>behavior is inappropriate. This policy applies both in and out of the classroom, in</u> <u>the school community, and outside the school community, where the behavior is</u> <u>contrary to Catholic teachings or could bring disrepute or embarrassment to the</u> <u>school.</u>

It should be noted that every effort is taken to follow a prescribed course of action in regard to consequences related to student's behavior and responsibilities. However, each situation is handled on an individual basis taking all factors into consideration. Comparisons should not be made.

Conduct by students or parents/guardians, or anyone acting on their behalf, incompatible with the educational and religious mission of the school, is grounds for disciplinary action including, but not limited to, the immediate dismissal of the student, as well as reporting the incident to the appropriate legal authorities, where appropriate.

In addition, in the case of threats of violence or harassment, in any form, including oral, written, or electronic by a student against any member of the school community, the student, if suspended but not dismissed, may be required to have psychological or psychiatric clearance before returning to school.

Suspension and Dismissal

The Principal will inform the parents/guardians of the seriousness of suspension and seek their immediate cooperation in a corrective program designed to resolve the student's problem, if possible. A suspension may lead to dismissal from the school.

Procedures for Student Suspension

- Parents/guardians of the student will be informed of the suspension as soon as possible.
- Suspensions will be implemented at the discretion of the Principal.
- Following the suspension, the appropriate school official will interview parents/ guardians. Students removed from the school community will not be readmitted before a parental interview has been conducted, and all other conditions for readmittance have been satisfied.
- Parents and students are to sign a formal agreement in which they signify their understanding and agree to assume the responsibility for future behavior. Where possible, a student will be referred to a counselor or a teacher for counseling.
- Signed agreement by parents/guardians, and a written report of the suspension, will be filed in the student's record.
- Suspension records are not a part of the student's permanent or cumulative record.

Ordinarily, suspension records will be made available to authorized school personnel and parents/guardians.

Procedures for Student Dismissal

- After two formal suspensions, a student may be dismissed. The principal alone has the authority to dismiss a student from the school. Students who are dismissed may apply for readmission after one full year.
- The student may be given an infinite suspension, pending a thorough investigation. The dismissal from the school should not be formalized until the investigation is complete, allowing time for discussion, inquiry, and evaluation by the principal.
- Prior to acting, the principal must contact the Office of Catholic Education about the case.
- The school will determine whether readmittance is appropriate.
- In certain instances, the infraction may warrant immediate dismissal. The school reserves the right to dismiss any student at any time, where the school considers the conduct of the student or parent/guardian to be inconsistent with school policy, the good school community, and/or Catholic teachings.
- Parents/guardians of the student will be informed of the dismissal as soon as possible.

B) Bullying, Harassment, Intimidation, and Hazing

A safe, secure, and respectful educational environment is necessary for students to learn and achieve high academic standards and build appropriate relationships with others. A Catholic School environment refuses to accept any such behaviors. Therefore, acts of harassment, hazing, intimidation, and bullying (including cyberbullying and the like) are unacceptable behaviors and are prohibited. School personnel cannot monitor the activities of students at all times and eliminate all incidents of bullying between students, particularly when students are not under their direct supervision. However, to the extent such conduct affects the educational environment of the school and the rights and welfare of the students, and is within the control of the school in its normal operations, it is the school's intent to prevent bullying. Action will be taken to investigate, respond, discipline, and remediate those acts of bullying. Administration, faculty, staff, and volunteers are to demonstrate appropriate behavior by treating others with civility and respect, and being aware of and not tolerating harassment, intimidation, hazing, and bullying, etc. If incidents do occur, students should be able to report and know that inappropriate behavior will be dealt with promptly and effectively. There will be no retaliation against a victim, reporter, or witness.

According to Section 1303.1-A of the Pennsylvania School Code, non-public school students would be required to follow the bullying policy anytime they are in what is defined as the "school setting."

"School setting" shall mean: in the school, on school grounds, in school vehicles, or at any sponsored activity supervised or sanctioned by the school.

Policy also applies to off-campus behavior that somehow brings discredit or scandal to the school and/or causes substantial disruption to the learning environment.

Bullying

Bullying involves actions or words against another person for the purpose of inflicting physical or emotional harm, discomfort, or damage to a person's reputation that is

intimidating or threatening and affects the learning and school environments. If the bully is threatening harm, a student should tell a teacher or the Principal immediately. Once the report is made, the following will occur:

- > A written report will be made using the bullying form.
- > An investigation of the incident will occur.
- A decision will be made upon completion of the investigation, including actions to be taken.

Cyber-bullying

Cyber-bullying includes the following misuses of digital technology: written threats, teasing, intimidating, or making false accusations about another student or teacher by way of any technological tool, such as sending or posting inappropriate emails, instant messages, text messages, digital images, or website postings (including blogs and any social networking sites)

Scope: This policy prohibits bullying in any form or by any media that occurs either:

1. On school premises, before, during, or after school hours

2. On any bus or vehicle as part of any school activity or on the way to and from school

3. During any school function, extracurricular activity, or other schoolsponsored event or activity

4. Any outside school events involving students of Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School

- Reporting Complaints: Each student and parent has a duty to report any legitimate incident of bullying/cyberbullying to the school. The school cannot act on hearsay or rumors, however; if a student experiences (or a parent witnesses or learns of) of any incident involving the above, it should be reported to the school principal. Parents are encouraged to share the documents with the Administration of any inappropriate emails, "tweets," or any other social media posting.
- Parents should regularly check their child's account and make sure that what they are posting is appropriate as well. The school cannot be expected to be aware of what students are doing on their home computers or phones.
- Appropriate disciplinary measures will be taken for violations of this policy. This may include suspension or dismissal from school depending on the circumstance & the age of the child. Parents must realize that everything is not always what it seems; they may be extenuating circumstances or information that you do not have.
- The school administration will investigate all actions, examine all sides and handle as deemed appropriate. At no time will we discuss the consequences of another student's actions due to privacy concerns. Threats of physical harm should be reported to the local authorities.

Harassment & Hazing

The school follows the Philadelphia Archdiocesan Policy prohibiting harassment including sexual harassment. Sexual harassment refers to any unwelcome sexual attention, sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, or other verbal, visual or physical conduct of a sexual nature.

Sexual harassment is unacceptable conduct and will not be tolerated. Any student or parent/guardian who is determined to have violated this policy will be subject to appropriate disciplinary action up to, and including, dismissal of the student.

Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School is committed to providing a safe environment for all individuals. Verbal/written threats made against the physical or emotional well-being of any individual are taken very seriously. Students making such threats (seriously, in jest, in person, in writing, or on-line) face detention, suspension, and or expulsion.

Electronic and Mobile Devices

The use of any technology-oriented device should have an educational focus. Users must adhere to school policy regarding the use of additional electronic devices, including, but not limited to, iPads, calculators, gaming devices, and cellular phones.

Unacceptable Uses of Electronic and Mobile Devices:

- Users may not use equipment to harass, threaten, deceive, intimidate, offend, embarrass, or annoy any individual.
- Users may not post, publish, or display any defamatory, inaccurate, violent, abusive, profane, or sexually-oriented material.
- > Users may not use obscene, profane, lewd, vulgar, rude, or threatening language.
- Users may not knowingly or recklessly post false information about any persons, students, staff, or any other organization.
- At no time may a student use the name of Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School on any website or social network site.
- Users may not use a photograph, image, video, or likeness of any student, or employee without express permission of that individual and the Principal.
- Users may not use school equipment to create any site, post any photo, image, or video of another except with express permission of that individual and the Principal. Maintaining or posting material to a web site or blog that threatens a likelihood of substantial disruption in school, including harming or interfering with the rights of other students or teachers to participate fully in school or extracurricular activities, is a violation of the Acceptable Use Policy and subject to the disciplinary measure found herein.
- Users may not attempt to circumvent system security, guess passwords, or, in any way, gain access to secured resources, another person's files, or another person's password.
- Users may not install, move, delete, download, upload, reconfigure, or modify any software or files on school equipment without permission. Users may not deliberately visit a site known for unacceptable material or any material that is not in support of educational objectives. Users may not access social networking sites or gaming sites, except for educational purposes, under teacher supervision.
- Users may not plagiarize content and may not present the work of another as their own without properly citing that work. Users may not violate license agreements, copy disks, CD-ROMs, or other protected media.

- Users may not use technology for any illegal activity. Use of the Internet for commercial gains or profits is not allowed from an educational site.
- Reporting Users must immediately report any damage or change to the school's hardware/ software that is noticed by the user.

Administrative Rights

The school has the right to monitor both student and employee use of school computers and computer-accessed content. Due to the evolving nature of technology, the Archdiocese of Philadelphia, Office of Catholic Education reserves the right to amend or add to this policy, at any time, without notice.

Violation of the above rules will be dealt with by the administration of the school.

Violation of these rules may result in any or all of the following:

- Loss of use of the school network, computers and software, including Internet access. The student will be expected to complete work on a non-networked, stand-alone computer system.
- > Issuance of demerits/detentions, if applicable.
- Disciplinary action including, but not limited to, dismissal and/or legal action by the school, civil authorities, or other involved parties.

6. Dress Code/Uniform

Neatness and cleanliness in personal attire are part of a child's education and the responsibility of the parents. When a child looks and feels good about him/herself, he/she acts and works accordingly.

General Rules:

- All students must wear OLM uniform pieces with logos. They must be brought at either of our two approved vendors: Flynn & O'Hara or Lands' End.
- > All formal and gym uniforms must be bought at Flynn O'Hara or Lands' End.
- > Girls kilts must be no shorter than two inches above the knee.
- Scarves or head coverings are not permitted. Hair accessories are limited to barrettes, ponytail elastics, and headbands. No hair extensions are permitted.
- > Hair dyes and tattoos are not permitted.
- > NO LOGOS, Nike Elite sport socks, or the like, are permitted with the school uniform, with the exception being on gym days.
- Girls may wear post earrings or small hoops. No dangling earrings are permitted. Boys may not wear earrings.
- > Students may not wear non-religious necklaces, bracelets, or rings.
- > Girls may wear clear or light-pink nail polish.
- > Girls may not wear make-up.
- All shirts (without the banded bottoms) MUST BE TUCKED IN AT ALL TIMES.
- > Belts must be worn with pants or shorts by both boys and girls.
- Only the neckline of a **plain white undershirt** may be visible under the shirt.

Dress Down Days

These days occasionally occur throughout the year. Participation is a privilege and is subject to proper attire. Midsections, backs, and shoulders must be covered. All tops must be short sleeve or longer and must cover all undergarments. Tops must be uniform in length. Scoop or V necked tops must not be so low as to expose cleavage. Pajamas are not acceptable at any time. T-shirts with words or images deemed inappropriate by school staff will be confiscated. Shoes must be flat and have a backing or strap at the heel for recess and stairwell safety. Students in Grades 4-8 may only wear shorts of Bermuda length, two-inches above the knee, or longer. Capris are also an option for girls. Any student in Grades 4-8 wearing shorts, not of Bermuda length or longer, will be required to call home for a change or purchase OLM gym shorts that day. Skirt length requirements mirror those of the regular uniform. Leggings may only be worn with a longer top at least fingertip length. Dress Down Days are a special privilege and warrant everyone's full cooperation.

| | Fall/Spring Uniform | Winter Uniform |
|------------------------------|--|--|
| | 09/01 to 9/30 | 10/01 to 04/30 |
| Kindergarten Boys & Girls | Light steel grey tee shirt (with logo) | Light steel grey tee shirt (with logo) -or- Light steel grey long-sleeve tee shirt (with logo) - |
| | Navy micromesh nylon gym shorts (with logo) | or-Grey heavyweight sweatshirt (with logo) |
| | Sports socks | Navy heavyweight sweatpants -or- Navy heavyweight open bottom sweatpants |
| | Sneakers | Sport Socks |
| | | Sneakers |
| Girls | Blackwatch plaid drop waist jumper with | Blackwatch plaid drop waist jumper with |
| Grades 1 - 4 | White short sleeve Peterpan collar blouse -or- White long sleeve Peterpan collar blouse | White short sleeve Peterpan collar blouse -or- White long sleeve Peterpan collar blouse |
| | Option: Black cotton / Lycra shorts (to be worn under jumper) | Option: Black cotton / Lycra short (to be worn under jumper) |
| | OR – | OR – |
| | Khaki twill walking shorts (black/brown belt) -or- Khaki skort with | Khaki flat front girls slacks(black/brown belt) with |
| | Dark navy or white short sleeve banded bottom polo shirt (w/ logo) -or-Dark navy or white | Dark navy or white short sleeve banded bottom polo shirt (w/ logo) -or-Dark navy or white long sleeve banded bottom polo shirt (w/ logo) |
| | long sleeve banded bottom polo shirt (w/ logo) | Navy crew neck cardigan sweater (with logo) |
| | Navy opaque or ribbed tights or Navy opaque nylon or Orlon navy knee-hi Solid navy, white or black crew socks (nologo) | Navy opaque or ribbed tights or Navy opaque nylon or Orlon knee-hi |
| Girls | Blackwatch plaid wrap-around kilt with | Blackwatch plaid wrap-around kilt with |
| Grade 4 - 8 | Dark navy or white short sleeve banded bottom polo shirt (w/ logo) -or-Dark navy or white long sleeve banded bottom polo shirt (w/ logo) | Dark navy or white short sleeve banded bottom polo shirt (w/ logo) -or-Dark navy or white long sleeve banded bottom polo shirt (w/ logo) |
| | Option: Black cotton / Lycra shorts (to be worn under kilt) | Option: Black cotton / Lycra short (to be worn under kilt) |
| | OR – | OR – |
| | Khaki twill walking shorts (black/brown belt) - or- Khaki skort | Khaki flat front girls slacks –or- mid-rise slacks (black/brown belt) with |
| | Dark navy or white short sleeve banded bottom polo shirt (w/ logo) -or-Dark navy or white long sleeve banded bottom polo shirt (w/ logo) | Dark navy or white short sleeve banded bottom polo shirt (w/ logo) -or-Dark navy or white long sleeve banded bottom polo shirt (w/ logo) |
| | Navy opaque nylon or Orlon navy knee-hi Solid navy, white or black crew socks | Navy V Neck sweater or vest (with logo) - Optional |
| | Solid navy, white or black crew socks (no logo) | Navy opaque or ribbed tights or Navy opaque nylon or Orlon knee-hi |

| | Fall/Spring Uniform | Winter Uniform |
|----------------------------|---|---|
| | 09/01 to 09/30 | 10/01 to 04/30 |
| Boys Grades 1 -8 | Khaki twill walking shorts -or- Khaki twill pants with | Khaki twill pants Dark navy or white short sleeve banded |
| | Dark navy or white short sleeve banded bottom polo shirt (w/ logo) -or-Dark navy or white long sleeve banded bottom polo shirt (w/ logo) | bottom polo shirt (w/ logo) -or-Dark navy or white long sleeve banded bottom polo shirt (w/ logo) |
| | Solid navy, white or black crew socks | Navy V Neck sweater or vest (with logo)- Optional |
| | (no logo) | Solid navy, white or black crew socks (no logo) |
| | Black or brown leather belt | Black or brown leather belt |
| Gym Uniform Grades 1 -8 | Light steel grey tee shirt (with logo) | Light steel grey tee shirt (with logo) -or- Light steel grey long-sleeve tee shirt (with |
| Boys & Girls | Navy micromesh nylon gym shorts (with logo) | logo) -or-Grey heavyweight sweatshirt (with logo) |
| | Sports socks | Navy heavyweight sweatpants -or- Navy heavyweight open bottom sweatpants |
| | *OLM logo wear is permitted with gym uniform. | Sport Socks |
| | | *OLM logo wear is permitted with gym uniform. |

SHOES

| Grades 1 – 8 | Academic School Issue Buc/Bass (tan) Hush Puppies Tuft (brown scuff) |
|---------------------------|---|
| OPTIONAL FOR GRADES 1 – 3 | Merrell Jungle Moc (brown) – BOYS |
| ONLY | Strite Rite Strap (navy blue) - GIRLS |

7. Early Dismissal

Scheduled

Planned early dismissals are usually at 12:00PM. Please check the school calendar for dates. <u>Emergency Dismissal</u>

We have an enhanced communication system to alert parents both during emergency dismissal situations and after regular school hours. Parents are asked to provide updated telephone and e-mail contact information to support the use of this system. After hours and before school, closings will also be posted on the website and announced on KYW 1060 AM as well. Our school closing number is 1382.

8. False Alarms

The family of the student/child responsible for a false fire alarm will be fined \$300.00. The child will also be subject to suspension and 10 community service hours. The township charges the school \$300.00 each time a false alarm is activated.

9. Home and School Association

Please check the website for ongoing information about this important organization.

Part IV: School Policies and Procedures

1. Accident / Illness at School

Accidents or unusual illnesses occurring at school are reported immediately to the Health Office personnel. When a student becomes ill or meets with an accident, the parent/guardian is contacted. If the parent/guardian cannot be reached, the emergency contact will be called. Only basic first aid may be administered. Parents must be contacted immediately if there is any question regarding an injury.

2. Address Changes

Please notify the office of address or phone number changes.

3. Admission

Our school admits students of any race, color, national, or ethnic origin to all of the rights, privileges, programs, and activities generally accorded or made available to its students. The school does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national, or ethnic origin in the administration of its educational policies, its admission policy, or in any school-administered program.

The school endeavors to accommodate students with special needs as the school's resources and capabilities reasonably permit. The school reserves the right to decline admission or impose reasonable conditions of attendance where indicated under the circumstances. The necessary forms and certificates for admission are:

- a. Birth Certificate.
- b. Baptismal certificate (regardless of home parish).
- c. A certificate of immunization that must be updated and available for confirmation.

Students must be five years of age by September 1 of the year they are entering kindergarten and six years of age to enter grade one (1). In other grades, if the child's age does not meet the September 1 requirement, admission to the grade requested is determined by the principal after review of academic records from the previous year.

Testing in some academic areas may be held for new incoming students in Grades 3 - 8.

Admission of Non-Catholics

The primary purpose of our school is religious education and faith formation. We exist for the purpose of evangelization and catechesis, that is, the proclamation of the Gospel and formation of the entire school community of faith. Our school offers a complete Catholic religious education program and makes every effort to develop the Faith in all the students so that they may live a full Christian life.

Non-Catholic students may be admitted to our school under the following conditions:

- a) Adequate facilities and space are available, without denying the admission of eligible Catholic students.
- b) The parents/guardians agree to permit their child(ren) to attend religion classes and religious functions that are offered as part of the school program.

- c) The parents/guardians commit themselves to accept and promote the philosophy, goals, and regulations of the school.
- d) The parents/guardians agree to assume responsibility for all financial obligations.

4. Asbestos Emergency Response Act

Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School has developed and maintains an Asbestos Inspection and Management Plan as required by the Asbestos Emergency Response Act of 1986 (AHERA). A copy of the plan is available for your inspection at the school office during regular office hours.

5. Cold Weather

Keeping students inside when the temperature is below 32 degrees is not consistent with current Health Department or Department of Education policy. According to the American Association of Pediatrics, children benefit from vigorous exercise and should be given the opportunity to play outside whenever possible - unless it is snowing or there is ice on the ground, low temperatures should not be a barrier to outside play. Children should be appropriately attired. OLM will remain inside when the real feel temperature is below 20 degrees F.

6. Communicable Diseases

No student, absent from school because of conditions listed below, may return to school before the specified time period.

| CHICKEN POX FEVER LICE | When all pox have scabs that are dried up Fever free for 24 hours After treatment is given and no nits are present | |
|------------------------------------|--|--|
| MEASLES/RUBELLA/ GERMAN MEASLES | 4 days from onset of rash | |
| MUMPS | 9 days from onset of swelling | |
| PINK EYE | 24 hours after medication is started | |
| SCARLET FEVER | 24 hours after medication is started | |
| STREP | 24 hours on medication | |
| WHOOPING COUGH | 7 days after medication is started | |

7. Communications

The faculty members of Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School are experienced professionals and consider themselves partners with parents in their child's education. Mutual respect is essential and good communication is indispensable. If, at any time, parents would like to discuss any aspect of the child's development, please contact the teacher through e-mail or call the office directly to leave a message.

NO PHONE CALLS ARE TO BE MADE TO A TEACHER'S HOME. If a problem should arise concerning your child and a classroom situation, please contact the individual teacher first, before referring it to the principal or pastor.

Parents are encouraged to cc the principal on any email sent to an individual teacher. The principal <u>will not meet</u> unless you have first contacted the teacher unless there is a serious reason to do so.

Written notes, signed by the parents are required for the following (for security reasons, faxes and e-mails are not acceptable):

- > Absence from school
- > Attendance as spectators at after school games
- ➤ Early dismissal
- > Leaving the school premises during school hours
- > Lateness
- ➤ Field trips
- > Medication taken during the school day
- > Changing the usual transportation home

The primary form of communication from the school will be through the weekly "*Mercy Peek & Ponder by Mr. McGrath*". This communication will be emailed to the family on the Sundays during the school year and twice during the summer months. Communication is also supplemented on Wednesday with a "*Midweek Communication*" and will be sent out via email during the school year. **Parents are asked to check bookbags and folders regularly for such communications.**

Communications Electronic and/or digital communications with students should be conducted for educationally appropriate purposes and employ only school-sanctioned methods of communication. The school-sanctioned methods of communications include:

- Teacher school web page
- ➤ Teacher school email
- School phone number
- Educationally-focused networking sites

8. Emergency Contact Forms

Information necessary to address student emergencies is required at the beginning of each school year.

9. Fire/Emergency/Crisis Drills

Fire drills are conducted on a monthly basis. The students are instructed to leave the building quickly and quietly when the alarm rings according to directions posted in each area. Failure to cooperate is considered a serious matter.

Protocol for Emergency/Crisis drills is reviewed and practiced annually.

All staff and volunteers must evacuate the building for any drill.

8. Legal Custody Issues

It is important for the school to have a current copy of any custody decree. This will help school personnel to make effective decisions when the need arises. Custodial parents are likewise asked to supply the school with copies of restraining orders if the need arises.

Those individuals who have legal custody of the student may attend school meetings, participate in educational decisions, and review educational records regarding that student. Persons who do not have legal custody (including those with visitation rights but not legal custody) have no such educational rights and may not participate in these matters.

9. Lost and Found

There is a LOST & FOUND area just outside the OLM Café. Periodically, unclaimed articles are donated to charity. It is very important that all personal property has the child's name and grade on it, especially school bags, lunch boxes, sweaters, coats, sweat shirts, notebooks, workbooks, and textbooks.

10. Medical Records/Immunization

The Commonwealth of Pennsylvania has mandated that all children entering Kindergarten or First Grade present documented proof that the following immunizations have been received:

DT (Diptheria/Tetanus) 4 doses - one after the fourth birthday Polio, 3 doses MMR (Measles, Mumps and Rubella) 2 doses –one dose after 12 months of age Hepatitis B, 3 doses of vaccine- last dose after 6 months Varivax (Chicken Pox) - 2 doses (or documentation of live disease)

After the basic series of three Oral Polio Vaccine, Diphtheria and Tetanus, boosters are due between four and six years of age. For students entering 7th grade, one dose of tetanus, diphtheria, accellular pertussis (Tdap) is required if it has been more than 5 years since the last tetanus immunization and one dose of meningococcal conjugate vaccine (MCV) is also necessary. Please inform the school nurse, in writing, when boosters are given. Other immunizations may be required.

Dentist and Physician Reports, along with an Elementary School Student Health History form, are required for students entering Kindergarten or any student entering from out of state. Subsequent examinations and forms are required from the Dentist in grades 3 and 7 and from the Physician in grade 6 (scoliosis exam is also due at this time).

11. Medications

It is generally recommended that prescription medicines be given to the student before and/or after school in accordance with the physician's directions. In those rare instances where the medication must be given during the school day, it will be administered by the nurse or in the main office. Parents/guardians are required to sign a medication authorization form, which is available from school, if the student must take medication at the school.

Prescription and non-prescription over the counter medications must be in the original container with a note from the parent and physician to include: name of medicine, dosage, time of administration, dates to be given, and reason for medication. Medications may be sent in by the day or week. It is recommended that students not carry a full prescription bottle to be taken back and forth daily.

12. Nurse

A registered nurse is provided by the Upper Dublin School District on days selected by the district. Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School provides nursing service on those days not covered by the Upper Dublin School District. These nurses administer care at school limited to first aid in accidents or illness until the parents can be reached. The nurse is not to replace the family doctor for medical/dental exam requirements. Please do not advise your child to seek the nurse to diagnose illnesses or injuries that occur at home.

The nurse is responsible for checking the height, weight, hearing, and vision of every child and for making referral to parents when problems are found. The nurse maintains all health records. Care given in the school is limited to first aid, in accidents or illness, until the parents can be reached to take the child home, to the doctor, or to the hospital. In an emergency, the nurse will arrange to have the student transported to the hospital.

All students are screened yearly under the state-mandated program.

If your child has a specific medical problem, please notify the homeroom teacher and the nurse of the problem. Medic-Alert bracelets are strongly recommended for any child with a medical problem. Emergency cards are kept on file for each student. Please be sure that we have up-todate emergency numbers on file in case of an emergency during the school day involving your child.

13. Option C

Parents can access their child's grades, homework, & report cards in Grades K-8 through the school's digital communication tool, OPTION C. Parents are given a specific password at the beginning of the year, which is specific to each child. The introductory letter provides you with the information you will need to access this system. Please keep somewhere safe and secure so you can refer to it often. This will allow you to enter the program and view grades, assignments and report cards. Parents must be current in their tuition payments and other school fees in order to receive this service or access will be blocked. If you do not have access to the Internet please contact the child's teacher to receive an update however; all financial obligations must still be current.

14. Peanut/Nut Allergies – Lunch and Classrooms

OLM Peanut Aware Policy: It is the goal of OLM to partner with parents to ensure a safe environment while children are attending school. With the understanding that OLM is not a "peanut free" school, if a student with a peanut allergy attends OLM, the school will partner with the student's parents to educate teachers, students, and other parents.

Teachers and staff have been trained on what it means to have a life-threatening allergy, precautions, and treatment. They also have procedures to adhere to and are familiar with students who have life-threatening allergies. They have also been trained on the use of the EpiPen.

Our classrooms are "peanut free" for the safety of some of our students. Please do not send foods with peanut products in them. In the lunch room, there is a designated "peanut free zone". OLM cannot prohibit peanut products at lunch or police the lunches of students. OLM asks parents to make careful and prayerful decisions about sending peanut products to school. Our website lists "nut safe treats recommendations for the classroom".

OLM will require that an Emergency Action Plan be completed by the parents and the health c a r e provider. The plan will include signs and symptoms of a reaction as well and interventions to minimize the reaction. Any required medications, such as an EpiPen or Benadryl, will need to be prescribed by the child's physician and attached to the Emergency Action Plan.

Lunch may NOT be ordered and delivered to the school without notification to the homeroom teacher and approval by the principal.

15. Registration

Registration Guidelines

Families are accepted into the school in the following preferential order:

a. Siblings of current Our Lady of Mercy families and parishioners of St.

Alphonsus, St. Anthony and St. Catherine parishes.

b. Other families (non-parishioner) with children currently registered in our school.

c. Parish families sending their first child to our school

d. Students transferring from other Catholic schools

e. Families residing out of our parish

(1) Catholic students coming from a parish without a school

(2) Catholic students coming from a parish that has closed its school enrollment

(3) Catholic students coming from another parish school for other reasons

*A letter of release is required from the pastor of your current parish.

(4) Non-Catholic students

f. When a grade is filled, a wait list is established. This is listed in chronological order (upon receipt of registration form and fee) and respects the criteria as stated above. The registration fee is returned if there are not openings in a specific grade.

16. Release of a Child

A child will not be released to a parent/guardian who does not have physical custody, without the written consent of the custodial parent/guardian. To determine the custodial parent/guardian, all separated or divorced parents of children enrolled in the parish school must provide the school with a copy of the court order or custodial agreement adjudicating that determination of custody. This Court Order/Custodial Agreement is placed in a confidential file.

17. Safety Regulations

The following regulations have been established to ensure the safety of our students and must be adhered to by each student:

- Running is not permitted at any time within the school building or in moving from one place to another on the school premises.
- Entry is not permitted into the school building at recess or lunch, or after dismissal at any time, unless a member of the school staff gives explicit permission to do so.
- > No student may leave the school premises at any time without permission. Every student must stay within the established boundaries when outdoors for lunch recess.
- > All visitors and volunteers must report to the school office.

18. Smoking

The school premises are a smoke-free environment. No smoking is allowed on school property.

19. Spitting/Biting

Spitting and biting are behaviors that are health related and are strictly prohibited. However, children over the age of three may occasionally be involved in a biting or spitting incident. The staff will observe the child to determine what elicits this inappropriate behavior in an effort to avert it from recurring. Parents are expected to cooperate with staff to help their child control

this behavior. If the child's behavior persists in being harmful to the individual child or to other children, the parent will be asked to remove the child from school for the day. The parent/parents must be in communication with administration before the child can return to school.

20. Tuition Policy (adopted and approved by the Board of Directors on 09-10-2015)

Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School Board (The Board) with the advice and consultation of the principal is responsible for setting the Tuition as well as any non-refundable fees. We believe that the tuition is an investment in your child's education and religious formation. The Board intends to ensure that sufficient financial resources are available for Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School, and that enrollment is as available and affordable as possible to all families who desire to apply and abide by the rules regulations and policies established for the school.

The Board has established the following tuition goals:

A. To make a Catholic School education at Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School affordable to all who truly desire and value it for their children.

B. To foster a trusting, Catholic community relationship among The Archdiocese, the supporting parishes, Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School and your family.

C. To generate funds so that Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School has a solid financial base in order to effectively improve programs and services to our students.

The tuition policy of Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School requires that the parents and/or guardians must arrange to pay the total tuition charged for the current school year. All families are required to make tuition payments using the FACTS Tuition Management Plan. Each family's preferred manner of payment must be submitted each year at the time of student registration. Through this plan, the family authorizes the bank to transfer the tuition payment from a checking or savings account. It shall be the responsibility of each parent and/or guardian to keep the Business Manager of the school office informed of their need to make any changes in their preferred tuition payment plan. It shall be the responsibility of each parent and/or guardian to make the necessary arrangements with FACTS to facilitate any changes in their preferred tuition payment plan. It is NOT the responsibility of anyone at the school to change the parent and/or guardian's chosen option with FACTS.

FACTS Tuition Management Plan Options for payment include:

A. Full Payment. Under this plan the entire amount of tuition is paid through the FACTS plan on July 1.

B. Semester Payment. Under this plan the entire amount of tuition is paid through the FACTS Plan in two installments due in July and December.

C. Monthly Payments. Under this plan the entire amount of tuition is paid in ten (10) monthly payments beginning July 1.

REGISTRATION: Parents and/or Guardians will be required to complete a registration form for each child. Each registration form must be complete prior to the start of school at such time as is determined by The Board.

LATE REGISTRATIONS:

A. Families registering after the registration deadline shall fulfill their tuition obligations according to the tuition policy stated previously.

B. Tuition for students registering after the first day of school shall be prorated over the number of school days they will be in attendance plus an additional month of tuition.

C. A late re-registration fee of \$300.00 will apply to families registering after the registration

deadline as established each school year.

FEES: Fees determined by The Board are in addition to the tuition. All fees are:

- Mandatory;
- Not applied to the tuition; and
- Non-refundable.

The fees and the dates when they are due are published on the School's website. Fees charged by FACTS or a financial institution are not controlled or determined by The Board and are the responsibility of each School Family to address without involvement of the school's administration, staff or The Board.

TUITION REFUNDS:

Families withdrawing students prior to August 1ST shall be refunded the entire amount of tuition paid. The registration fee is non-refundable except in cases of student illness or families moving from area. On or after August 1st refunds are subject to the discretion of the principal and the finance committee of the governance board. Refunds will be prorated on a weekly basis from the date written notification of the student's withdrawal is received and accepted by the school.

DIFFICULTY IN PAYMENT OF TUITION:

For the sake of your family's security and peace of mind, and for the general financial stability of our school, it is the obligation of and we encourage each parent and/or guardian to contact the school as soon as possible when they are experiencing economic difficulties or changes in life situation. Families who experience these problems may contact the business manager of Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School who will contact the Finance Committee of The Board to arrange for a confidential meeting to discuss special arrangements. It is not the Policy of The Board to turn away families who are genuinely in need. All Requests shall be held in strict confidence by the Business Manager and The Finance Committee of The Board.

TUITION AND FEE DELINQUENCY:

School families know that their child/children will not be allowed to attend our school if they fail to pay tuition according to the agreement that they have made with FACTS and who have been unwilling to make suitable alternative arrangements with the Finance Committee of The Board. In addition, school families 60 days in arrears for fees or tuition who have not made suitable arrangements with the Finance Committee of The Board to have the arrears paid in full will be informed that their child/children will not be permitted to attend school.

EIGHT GRADE STUDENTS AND/OR STUDENTS TRANSFERRING FROM OUR LADY OF MERCY REGIONAL CATHOLIC SCHOOL

• Tuition and fee obligations for transferring students must be paid in full before the school must complete and transmit any materials to accomplish the transfer.

• Tuition and fee obligations for eighth grade students must be paid in full one month prior to graduation.

• Eighth grade and transferring students whose tuition and fees are not paid in full will have report cards, term reports, and school records withheld until all tuition and fees are satisfied.

• In addition, eighth grade families in arrears will not have their child/children participate in graduation ceremonies or receive their diploma until all tuition and fees are satisfied.

TUITION ASSISTANCE:

Tuition assistance is available through BLOCS and Our Lady of Mercy. Families may apply online at <u>http://online.factsmgt.com/aid</u>.

BOOKS AND SUPPLIES: The cost of books, notebooks, pens, pencils, paper and other consumable supplies is not included in the total tuition fee. Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School administration may request that parents provide additional supplies specific to their student's grade level. A supply list will be sent to families and be posted on the school's website. Rents are expected to provide such additional supplies and a nominal fee.

21. Transfer

If a student is transferring to another school, parents should supply the school office with a permission form for release of records to the new school. Records are not forwarded to another school until this form has been signed by a parent and all financial obligations have been met

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING, 2020-2021

Every Catholic School student has a right to be treated as a child of God, with love and respect. In like manner, the believing community has the right to an education guided by Catholic teaching and identity, unimpeded by pressures contrary to Church teaching.

As parent(s) of a student(s) in a Catholic School, I (we) understand, affirm and support the following:

+ Attending a Catholic School is a privilege, not a right.

[†] The primary purpose of a Catholic education is two-fold: to strengthen the Catholic community in its faith and to form students in the teaching of Jesus Christ and the Catholic Church.

[†] Catholic Schools are distinctive religious education institutions guided by the teachings of the Catholic Church. They are not simply private schools offering a positive moral code. Rather, they exist to advance the faith mission of the sponsoring Catholic parishes and Archdiocese of Philadelphia.

TWhile Catholic education places a high value on academic excellence and extracurricular achievement, its fundamental priority is fidelity to Catholic teaching and identity.

[†] The school and its administration have the responsibility to ensure that Catholic teaching and moral integrity permeate every facet of the school's life and activity and that the school is able to function as a community of faith.

[†] In all questions that involve Catholic teachings, morals, and Church law, the final determination rests with the Archbishop.

As a parent/guardian desiring to enroll my child in a Catholic School, I accept this memorandum of understanding. I pledge to support the Catholic identity and Mission of Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School. By enrolling my child(ren) I commit myself to uphold all principles and policies that govern the Catholic school.

My acknowledgement of the Student-Parent Handbook indicates that I/we have made ourselves knowledgeable and understand the policies and procedures stated the OLM Student-Parent Handbook.

<u>iPad/CHromebook Use Agreement</u>

In the interests of furthering the educational goals of Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School and its students, OLM will make available for use by students iPads and Chromebook.

The iPad/Chromebook is intended for educational purposes and will be issued upon the student's and parent's signed acceptance of the terms of this iPad Use Agreement as well as the Acceptable Use Policy for Technology and the Student-Parent Handbook.

<u>Terms of Use</u>

1. Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School will provide for iPad/Chromebook repairs resulting from normal software or hardware malfunction.

2. Students will be liable for physical damage due to negligence to the iPad/Chromebook up to \$350.

<u>Care of Equipment</u>

1. The student will exercise all due and reasonable care in handling and the use of said equipment. Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School accepts and acknowledges reasonable and normal wear and depreciation in the value of the iPad/Chromebook. The student and parent will be responsible for damages when:

- A. The student's negligent use or misuse causes damage to the iPad/Chromebook
- B. The damage of the iPad/Chromebook is intentional
- C. The damage, depreciation, or wear and tear is outside the terms of the Agreement.

2. Students and parents agree to pay for any reasonable cost of repair or replacement of the equipment (including case, cable, and AC power supply) caused by the user's lack of care, negligence or misuse.

<u>Rules of Use</u>

1. Use of the iPad/Chromebook and network resources is a privilege, not a right. Treat this privilege with care. Students can expect their iPad/Chromebook to be periodically inspected and monitored for appropriate usage. The student shall abide by the OLM Acceptable Use Police for Technology and Student- Parent Handbook.

2. Unacceptable uses include, but are not limited to, the following:

- A. Using profanity, obscenity, or other language that may be offensive or abusive to another person
- B. Copying personal communications to others without the original author's permission.

- C. Copying software or other copyright-protected material in violation of copyright laws.
- D. Harassing another individual
- E. Use of the iPad/Chromebook or program in a manner other than that which was intended
- F. Unauthorized installation of software including downloads (i.e. iTunes, Facebook, games, etc.) or modification of the iPad/Chromebook.
- G. Using the network access to alter or destroy information belonging to others
- H. Spreading computer viruses deliberately or by importing files from unknown sources
- I. Using the network to attempt to disrupt OLM business or educational activities.
- J. Using the network for any illegal activity or private business purposes
- K. Computer "hacking" activities are expressly prohibited. Individuals must not attempt to undermine the security or the integrity of computing systems or networks and must not attempt to gain unauthorized access
- L. Users may not use any computer program or device to intercept or decode passwords or similar access control information.

3. Inappropriate use as outlined above will result in disciplinary action. Disciplinary action measures may include, but are not limited to, loss of iPad/Chromebook and/or system access privileges. OLM reserves the right not to reissue an iPad/Chromebook to a student who misuses the said device.

License Agreements

Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School is the sole owner of the software/apps included in the iPad/Chromebook. Any copying, modification, merging, or distribution of the software/apps by the student is prohibited. The student is responsible for complying with any and all hardware, software/apps, and service, terms, or laws shall constitute a violation of this agreement and the student may be subject to disciplinary action.

Modifications, Updates and Repairs

The student shall not modify, upgrade, or attempt repairs to the iPad/Chromebook or its installed software/apps. Any damage to the iPad/Chromebook shall be promptly brought the attention of the school (using the damage/loss report form found on the school's website).The student and parent are responsible for the cost of the modifications, upgrades, repairs to the iPad/Chromebook or its installed software/apps where it is required as a result of the student's misuse, negligence, or intentional conduction, or other acts or omissions in violation of the agreement. Any required software/apps will be installed by authorized OLM School personnel

Term of Agreement

This agreement is effective as of the date the equipment is received and the receipt form is signed by the student and parent/guardian. This agreement will terminate on June 30, 2021 unless terminated earlier or extended by written consent.

Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School Behavior Report & "My Side of the Story" Form

| Student's name: _ | | Grade: _ | |
|---|------------------------------|--|---|
| Date: | _Time: | Place: | |
| Reporting teacher: | | | |
| Incident Type | | | |
| Uniform Code (earrings, ha | air, rolled skirt, belt, mak | e-up, nail polish) | |
| □Attendance (tardy, etc.) | | | |
| □Physical (pushing, kicking, destroying property, vandalism) | | | |
| □Verbal (talking, name calling, insulting, threatening, disrespect) | | | |
| □Social (isolation, exclusion, rumors, social aggression or intimidation) | | | |
| • • • | • | l or post messages or post pictu ate use of technology devices ir | • |
| Other: | | | |
| Actions Taken | | | |
| Letter of Apology/Explanat | tion | | |
| ☐ Modified recess | | | |
| □ Parent conference | | | |
| □ Principal conference | | | |
| □Guidance referral | | | |
| Detention/Suspension/Exp | ulsion | | |
| □Other | | | |
| Teachers comments (if any): | | | |

Student's signature_

Parent's signature_

Student's Story My side of the story:

What happened because you made this choice?

What do you need to do to make things right?

What should be the consequences if you choose to make this kind of choice again?

Student Release, Waiver of Liability, and Indemnity

The novel coronavirus, COVID-19, is highly infectious and has been declared by the World Health Organization to be a global pandemic. In order to resume school activities, Our Lady of Mercy Regional Catholic School has established new rules and precautions to reduce the spread of COVID-19 at School. Even with implementation of these new rules and precautions, the School cannot guarantee that your child or anyone else, including family members, will not be exposed to or become infected with COVID-19.

I acknowledge the contagious nature of COVID-19, and the inherent risks of exposure to those who may be infected with COVID-19 and that COVID-19 infections have been confirmed throughout the United States, including cases in Montgomery County, as well throughout the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

I voluntarily assume the risk that I/my child/my household members may be exposed to or infected by COVID-19 as a result of or in connection with my child's attendance at school and that such exposure or infection may result in personal injury, illness, permanent disability, and/or even death.

I acknowledge that the CDC and state and local public health authorities continue to recommend social distancing, cloth face coverings, and other protective measures to prevent the spread of COVID-19, which may be updated at any time. I understand that the School has therefore put in place new rules and precautions in order to mitigate the spread of COVID-19, which may be updated at any time. While acknowledging that these rules and precautions may or may not be effective in mitigating the spread of COVID-19, I/my child/my household members agree to comply with such rules and precautions which may include, but are not limited to, wearing a face covering, hand washing, hand sanitizing, and social distancing.

I understand and acknowledge that the risk of I/my child/a household member becoming exposed to or infected by COVID-19 as a result of or in connection with my child's attendance at school may result from the actions, omissions, or negligence of myself and others, including, but not limited to, clergy; school staff; volunteers; students; and other parish, school, or archdiocesan workers, including their families. I recognize that the School cannot limit all potential sources of COVID-19 infection and due to the nature of the infection, cannot guarantee that I/my child/a household member will not become infected with COVID-19. I understand that a school environment with young children could create challenges with social distancing such that social distancing of 6 feet per person among students and staff in a school setting may not always be possible.

I acknowledge that, by sending my child to school, I am/my child/a household member is increasing risk of exposure to COVID-19. I voluntarily assume full responsibility for any and all risks of illness or injury associated with my/my child's/my household members exposure to COVID-19.

In consideration for providing my child the opportunity to attend school, both my child and I voluntarily agree to release and agree to hold School (and its associated parishes), the Archbishop of Philadelphia, and the Archdiocese of Philadelphia, and their respective clergy, employees and volunteers (collectively, the "Indemnitees") harmless from, and waive on behalf of myself/my child, my heirs, and any personal representatives, any and all causes of action, claims, demands, damages, costs, expenses and compensation for damage or loss to myself/my child that may be caused by any act, or failure to act of the Indemnitees, or that may otherwise arise in any way, whether a COVID-19 infection occurs before, during, or after attendance at School or participation in School activities, to the fullest extent allowed by law.

I understand that this release discharges the Indemnitees from any liability or claim that I/my child, my heirs, or any personal representatives may have against Indemnitees with respect to any bodily injury, illness, death, or medical treatment that may arise from, or in connection to, my child's attendance at school, whether a COVID-19 infection occurs before, during, or after attendance at School or participation in School activities.

I certify and represent that I have the legal authority to waive, discharge, release, and hold harmless the released parties on behalf of myself and the student named below.

By acknowledgement and acceptance of the School's handbook (including any addenda thereto), I acknowledge that I have read this Student Release, Waiver of Liability and Indemnity and fully understand its terms.